IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-2314

NORBERTO PIETRI,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Counsel

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional

Southern Region Florida Bar No. 311545

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Assistant CCRC-SOUTH Florida Bar No. 0066850

LAW OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
SOUTHERN REGION
101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

(954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, entered the judgement of conviction and sentence of death at issue in this case. The Palm Beach County, Florida grand jury indicted Mr. Pietri for one count of first degree premeditated murder in addition to fifteen other counts on September 13, 1988 (R. 3177). Mr. Pietri's jury trial took place before Judge Marvin U. Mounts. An initial attempt ended in a mistrial on January 23, 1990. The actual trial began on February 1, 1990 and lasted until February 7, 1990. The jury found Mr. Pietri guilty of one count of premeditated murder and all other counts as charged, except that he was acquitted of false imprisonment (R. 2673, 3603). The penalty phase began on February 22, 1990. After a one and a half day hearing, the jury voted in favor of death by a margin of eight (8) to four (4) (R. 3099-3102). On March 15, 1990, the court sentenced Mr. Pietri to die in the electric chair. (R. 3133). On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentence but struck the aggravating circumstance of

cold, calculated and premeditated, holding the error to be harmless. Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1994) reh'g denied, August 22, 1994. Mr. Pietri timely petitioned to the United States Supreme Court for certiorari was denied on June 19, 1995. <u>Pietri v.</u> Florida, 115 S. Ct. 2588 (1995). On March 14, 1997, Mr. Pietri, filed an incomplete Motion to Vacate in order to toll the time in which he is entitled to file a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in federal court. See 28 U.S.C. §2244(d)(2) (1996). On January 27, 1999, Mr. Pietri filed a second incomplete Motion to Vacate at the direction of the trial court, prior to the trial court's subsequent determination that the public records process had been completed. A final consolidated Motion to Vacate was filed on March 3, 2000 at the direction of the trial court (PCR. 4547-4673). Following a Huff¹ hearing, the lower court entered an order granting a limited evidentiary hearing as to Claims VII, VIII (paragraphs 1-17 only), X and XI in Mr. Pietri's Rule 3.850 motion, and summarily denying the other claims (PCR. 4863). The evidentiary hearing was conducted over

¹Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

three sessions: October 23-24, 2001, February 5-7, 2002 and March 19-20, 2002. Post-hearing memoranda were filed simultaneously on July 5, 2002 (PCR. 6827-6882, 6786-6826). In a one-page order, the court denied all relief on August 27, 2002 (PCR. 6902). A motion for rehearing was filed on September 10, 2002, which was denied on September 13, 2002 (PCR. 6910-6916, 6917-6923). This appeal follows.

At the evidentiary hearing, the following evidence was adduced from the witnesses:

Donnie Murrell, one of the two lawyers who appeared for the defense at Mr. Pietri's trial, was the first witness at the October 23, 2001 session of the evidentiary hearing. He testified concerning an interview that the State had conducted with him the day before his testimony (PCR. 6007-6032). Murrell stated that Paul Zacks, the assistant state attorney, had spoken with him informally two or three times since the filing of Mr. Pietri's motion for post conviction relief. He also said that a formal meeting with the State had been arranged a week before the evidentiary hearing date and had taken place over a hour beginning

at 10:30 a.m. the preceding day (PCR. 6008). He said that he had called Mr. Pietri's postconviction counsel a few hours after his meeting with the State (PCR. 6008). The witness then reviewed a copy of Defendant's Motion to Disqualify the Office of the State Attorney, Defendant's Exhibit #1, which had been filed earlier in open court, and he confirmed that the account of his conversation with the state attorney the day before included in the motion was accurate (PCR. 6009). Mr. Murrell stated that his conversation with the state attorney had made him "extremely angry" and that in addition to calling post conviction counsel, he had called the Office of the Statewide Prosecutor to see if he could report a crime (PCR. 6010). He also testified that he had counseled with a lawyer although he was not represented in court by counsel. He stated that he had not decided how to proceed in the matter (PCR. 6010). He said that he had not advised postconviction about any actions that he should take, but agreed that Mr. Pietri's counsel had told him that he would probably file a motion to disqualify the Office of the State Attorney (PCR. 6011). Murrell offered his opinion that the actions of the state attorney were in violation of the tampering with witnesses statute in Chapter 914 of the Florida Statutes (PCR. 6011).

Murrell then described the events in his one hour meeting with the state the day before which lead to his concerns. He stated that about halfway through the meeting, the state attorney began to ask him questions regarding trial counsel's performance at trial (PCR. 6012). Murrell said that he had "offered him my opinion that I thought in certain aspects, the penalty phase in particular, we had probably failed our client" (Id.). He said that the response of the state attorney was to tell him that his office "has a policy of reporting lawyers who admit ineffectiveness to the Florida Bar" (<u>Id</u>.). Murrell said that he then "questioned [the state attorney] as to why he needed to tell me that" (PCR. 6013). He said that the response he got was that "this is a no win situation here and that if he had not been told "you will be angry at me later" (<u>Id</u>.). Murrell testified that he replied to the state attorney by saying "do what you got to do" (Id.). He said that the state attorney responded by telling him not to get

angry, and advising him that "you need to think about it before you throw yourself on the sword, we are just, we are just chatting" (<u>Id</u>.). He replied, saying, "if we are chatting then this chat is over," but that the state attorney continued with another 25 minutes of specific questions (Id.). Mr. Murrell detailed several areas where he told the state attorney he believed he had performed inadequately, which he said elicited another warning about Bar referral (PCR. 6014). Murrell said that before the meeting he had heard that Mr. Zacks had a policy of reporting attorneys to the Bar, but that he was not sure it was actually the policy of the Palm Beach County State Attorney's Office (PCR. 6016). Murrell said that he thought the state attorney was trying to intimidate him into not testifying as to his opinion of his own performance that he shared in the interview (PCR. 6017-6018). He testified that he was now considering reporting Mr. Zacks to the State Bar (Id.).

On cross-examination, Mr. Murrell stated that he was not aware of any ill-will on the part of Mr. Zacks in their prior relationship (PCR. 6021). He stated he was

aware that the Bar has a mandatory reporting obligation for lawyers who become aware of possible ethical violations (PCR. 6024). He also stated that he did not interpret the "Rat Rule" as "a threatening requirement" (Id.). He confirmed that he had his lawyer call Mr. Krischer, the Palm Beach State Attorney concerning this matter (PCR. 6025). He testified that Mr. Zacks' "warning" to him came about thirty minutes into their interview, only after "I talked about what I thought was ineffective I told you about those examples, that's when the warning came. I assume that warning was directed to the opinions" (PCR. 6029). Murrell also testified that Mr. Zacks had a reputation for reporting lawyers to the Bar (PCR. 6029-6030).

Peter Birch, who was lead counsel for Mr. Pietri at trial and also appellate counsel, first testified at the evidentiary hearing on October 23, 2001 (PCR. 6052-6174). He stated that he was appointed to represent Mr. Pietri on January 17, 1989 (PCR. 6054). Birch testified that co-counsel, his law partner Donnie Murrell, was appointed to Mr. Pietri's case in October 1989 after Birch filed a motion asking for co-counsel

"generally to help" (PCR. 6059). Later testimony established that Mr. Birch was in a position to get cocounsel as early as February 1989, but failed to do so (PCR. 6090-6092). He testified that it was his "quess" that Virginia Snyder, the only paid investigator who worked on the case, probably did no work on the penalty phase of the case (PCR. 6066). As of October 1989, Mr. Birch testified that he and Mr. Murrell had no specific plan for how to try the case or to divide up responsibilities (PCR. 6067-6068). Mr. Birch testified that he believed that Mr. Pietri was of normal intelligence (PCR. 6071). Mr. Birch reviewed documents from the court file and confirmed that a defense psychologist, Dr. Harry Krop, had been appointed on December 22, 1989, about a month before the case initially went to trial (PCR. 6074). He stated that he hired Dr. Krop primarily but not exclusively to assist counsel in the preparation of phase II (PCR. 6074-6075). He further testified that he recalled receiving a letter from Dr. Krop after Dr. Krop met with Mr. Pietri and that he was "extremely disappointed in the outcome of his evaluation" (PCR. 6077-6079).

acknowledged that Dr. Krop had asked in his letter for additional background materials that he never provided to Dr. Krop. He testified that his recollection was that he believed at the time that "[Dr. Krop] would not be ideal for Phase II" (PCR. 6079).

Birch testified that he recalled that prior to the offense, Mr. Pietri was staying in a motel with a number of other people, including Yoris Santana who was called as a witness at the penalty phase, and Mickey Brantley Serrano, Luis Serrano, and Randy Roberts who were not called at trial (PCR. 6079-6081). He identified documents from the court file that indicated that the public defender moved to withdraw from Mr. Pietri's case because of a conflict concerning his representation of witnesses Randy Roberts and Luis Serrano (PCR. 6087-6089). Birch testified that he believed the only witness called at the quilt phase was the defendant himself (PCR. 6092). He stated that he "would hate to think" that preserving the sandwich was the sole factor for limiting the guilt phase witnesses to Mr. Pietri, "unless those [other potential] witnesses I think were borderline" (PCR. 6093). Mr. Birch testified that

although he was aware that intoxication was a potential defense for Mr. Pietri, he did not think a jury would accept intoxication as a reason for killing a police officer and he did not think it was a very strong defense (PCR. 6095). Therefore, he testified, "I never gave it serious consideration as presenting it that way to the jury" (Id.). He further testified that "[b]ased on my knowledge of cocaine, which I admit was not extensive and based on my understanding of cocaine intoxication as a defense, I would have felt that he needed to be under the influence of cocaine, having ingested it earlier in the day for that to have any viable chance" (PCR. 6096). He then testified that he had never used the intoxication defense during his legal career (PCR. 6097). He then stated that at the time of the trial he had a general understanding of the cocaine addiction withdrawal process as it related to intoxication and stated that his investigation had been deficient:

My thinking back then, as best as I could recall, would be that the influence of drugs would had to have been directed at that time by direct -- I mean, he is suffering from the

influence of cocaine that he ingested earlier that day or the night before. So it wasn't like he had to have had much cocaine in his body. To be honest, I don't think I ever knew how much cocaine he had in his body on August 22, 1988.

(Id.). Mr. Birch testified that he could not recall why he failed to call other witnesses at the quilt phase to support or bolster the testimony of Mr. Pietri (PCR. He testified that the depositions he took of Yoris Santana and Mickie Brantley [Serrano], two friends of Mr. Pietri who were staying with him in a hotel before the August 22, 1988 shooting of Officer Chappell, contained information about Mr. Pietri's substance abuse that would have been useful in supporting both a quilt phase intoxication defense and statutory and nonstatutory mitigation (PCR. 6099-6107). Mr. Birch testified he was aware that Randy Roberts was another of the "circle of friends" who was with Norberto before the shooting (PCR. 6107). After he reviewed the police statements of Randy Roberts, he testified that the information contained in Mr. Roberts' statements about Mr. Pietri and his addiction to rock cocaine and constant use of cocaine in the days before the murder

would have been useful evidence to have presented before a jury in support of an intoxication defense and penalty phase mitigation. He testified that he had failed to depose or interview Mr. Roberts (PCR. 6107-6113).

He stated that he also had failed to depose or interview Mr. Pietri's brother, Luis Serrano, the fourth person present at the Airport Hotel and the Aqua Hotel with Mr. Pietri throughout the seven days after Mr. Pietri walked away from Lantana Correctional (PCR. 6110-6111). Mr. Birch testified that he could recall no reason for his failure to investigate these witnesses to Mr. Pietri's drug use around the time of the offense, stating that "[w]e, obviously, thought calling No[r]berto himself was the way to go" (PCR. 6112).

Birch testified that he did not recall if he had questioned potential jurors about their feelings about the intoxication defense (PCR. 6113). He stated that if the record reflected that an intoxication instruction was given and that he had acquiesced in it, he had no memory to the contrary (PCR. 6114). Mr. Birch testified that he did not recall intoxication "being a big focus in my closing argument" (Id.). He said that

he believed there was no premeditation and that the facts supported his position, therefore he did not view the case as one where his goal was to negate premeditation (PCR. 6115).

Birch testified that the experts that he eventually presented at the penalty phase, social worker Jody

Iodice and psychologist Dr. Caddy, were unknown to him at the time he was preparing the guilt phase case (PCR. 6116). He also stated that he did not provide Dr. Krop with the either the depositions and police statements of Mickie Brantley, Randy Roberts or Yoris Santana or with any background materials about Mr. Pietri's drug problems in prison (PCR. 6116).

Mr. Birch reviewed his motion for payment of expert fees (PCR. 6121). He testified that it documented that the initial telephone consultation with Dr. Caddy was five days prior to the penalty phase, and that Dr. Caddy's evaluation of Mr. Pietri took place on the day before the two day Phase II hearing began (PCR. 6122). Mr. Birch testified that he was unable to say what if any psychological testing was performed by Dr. Caddy (R. 6124). He testified that he did not personally prep

either Dr. Caddy or Jody Iodice for their testimony (Id.). He stated that he did not have a paid investigator working on the penalty phase (PCR. 6125). He said that he was "pretty sure" that expert Jody Iodice never met with Mr. Pietri because "the focus of her testimony had to do with addiction in general and not specifically Norberto" (PCR. 6125). He testified that if he had examined the defense experts at the penalty phase, he would have attempted to elicit statutory mitigation from them (PCR. 6126).

He then testified that he did not believe that at the trial he had obtained four different Department of Corrections records that he agreed were evidence that Mr. Pietri had substance abuse problems while he was incarcerated, including the reported use of cocaine "a couple of days" before his final walkaway from Lantana Correctional (PCR. 6127-6132).² He testified that if he had had these DOC reports of drug use by Mr. Pietri, he would have provided them to Dr. Caddy (PCR. 6133).

²One of the records, a psychological screening report from Lantana Correctional dated March 14, 1985, indicated that Mr. Pietri's IQ score was 82. Mr. Birch testified he could not say whether this IQ score would be considered normal or not (PCR. 6127).

Mr. Birch testified that he recalled filing a pre-trial motion in December requesting a thirty day continuance between Phase I and Phase II, and renewing that request after the guilty verdict was returned (PCR. 6133). He stated that "we needed to find people to help us, we needed more time to find people to help us" (PCR. 6133-6134). Mr. Birch testified that after the proceedings, he received a letter from the County Attorney concerning Dr. Caddy's bill in excess of the authorized amount (PCR. 6138).

On cross-examination, Mr. Birch testified that Mr. Pietri's case was the first he had ever handled which involved the killing of a police officer (PCR. 6141). He stated that until the day before the trial commenced he had attempted to plead out Mr. Pietri's case, and that in fact a plea agreement had been reached with the State for a life sentence plus 130 years for the additional felonies for which Mr. Pietri was charged (PCR. 6142-6143). He further testified that Mr. Pietri had signed the plea agreement and was in full agreement to pleading guilty (PCR. 6144). According to Mr. Birch's testimony, the father of the victim scuttled the

plea to a life sentence:

And the condition was that Tom Chappell approve the plea agreement along with the West Palm Beach Police Department. But Mr. Burton informed me that the West Palm Beach Police Department approved it provided Mr. Chappell and the rest of the family did. But it all boiled down as represented to me that one person Tom Chappell was the only one that did not approve the plea agreement, because of that they would not offer the plea agreement.

(PCR. 6143). Birch testified that by January 1990 he had a good relationship with Mr. Pietri (PCR. 6144). He stated that the defense of "some other guy did it" was cast aside relatively early in trial preparation (PCR. 6148). He testified that the preparation for Mr Pietri's testimony about his drug use at the guilt phase was Donnie Murrell's responsibility (PCR. 6150). He stated that his thinking regarding what witnesses to call involved both what a given witness had to offer along with "what is going to be disclosed that could hurt the case" (PCR. 6151). Trial counsel described the problems he had finding experts, stating: "I remember being frustrated because it did seem as though I wasn't having a whole lot of luck in finding someone

that could help us" (PCR. 6154). He testified that he believed that Dr. Krop was "less than enthusiastic about the case" and that he and Dr. Krop "just didn't click" (PCR. 6155). He stated that the five experts that he and Donnie Murrell considered all were to be directed at the penalty phase (PCR. 6156). Mr. Birch testified that Gail Martin, an investigator at the public defender's office, in the capital division, did some unpaid volunteer work helping him in the preparation of (R. 6158). He explained that "I wasn't really phase II giving her a whole lot of direction I was letting her do whatever she thought was necessary, that kind of thing" (PCR. 6158). He testified that Ms. Martin contacted some family members and may have obtained some records for him (PCR. 6159-6160). Trial counsel Birch testified he had unsuccessfully contacted at least five mental health experts before he found Dr. Caddy, who came "highly recommended" (PCR. 6160). He agreed that Dr. Caddy wanted more time (<u>Id</u>.). Birch testified that he had no recollection as to whether the experts he tried to contact were unable or unwilling to opine about cocaine use as mitigation (PCR. 6162). Mr. Birch

testified that he took many pre-trial depositions and filed many pretrial motions in the case (PCR. 6163-6164). He testified that his defense in Mr. Pietri's case was "that there was no premeditation, this was second degree murder" and that factually "that the conduct of Norberto Pietri was not that of someone who was engaged in a premeditated killing (PCR. 6164-6165). He testified that he prepared the witnesses he examined and he kept Mr. Pietri informed as to everything that was going on related to plea discussions, strategy, and discovery (PCR. 6166).

On redirect, Mr. Birch testified that Virginia
Snyder's involvement as an investigator in the case was
concerned with the defense that somebody else did it,
and that apparently she was still involved in the case
as late as December 1989 (PCR. 6167). He testified
that he did not recall ever having a conversation with
Mr. Pietri specifically involving a decision not to use
the intoxication defense (PCR. 6168). He testified
that his recollection of his intention in his closing
argument was to say "that whole thing that man cared
about was cocaine and that his whole function and

purpose for living was to get cocaine and that when he was stopped by Brian Chappell that is what he was thinking about. He wasn't thinking about shooting a police officer, he was thinking about getting cocaine" (PCR. 6170). He then testified that he did not see that argument as the same as an intoxication offense (PCR. 6170). He testified that he could not recall as to why he never interviewed or deposed Luis Serrano (R. 6170). He testified that in 1989-1990 he did not know the field of neuropharmacology existed (PCR. 6172).

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