IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORBERTO PIETRI,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC02-2314

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

CHARLES J. CRIST JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO.0656879 1515 N. Flagler Dr.. SUITE 900 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401 (561) 837-5000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

harsh childhood and Vietnam experience, although more detailed was cumulative); Provenzano, 561 So.2d at 546 (Fla. 1990) ("The additional testimony which Provenzano now suggests should have been given would have been largely cumulative."); Kennedy, 547 So. 2d at 913 (Fla. 1989) ("It was the trial judge's conclusion, and we agree, that Kennedy did not demonstrate how the failure to introduce any further information regarding his background other than that which was already before the jury prejudicially affected the outcome of his trial."); LeCroy v. State, 727 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 1998) (affirming summary denial of ineffectiveness claim that trial counsel failed to introduce additional evidence of defendant's family background where defendant failed to establish prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>); <u>Roberts</u>, 568 So. 2d at James v. State, 489 737, 738 1259(same) So. 2d (Fla. 1986) (denying claim that defendant received an inadequate mental health examination simply because newly acquired psychologist criticizes former mental health professional's failure to uncover organic brain damage).

Additionally Pietri cannot establish prejudice in counsel's "failure" to present the testimony of the metal health experts who testified during these proceedings. First of all any evidence concerning Pietri's substance abuse and violent childhood was cumulative at best. <u>See Rutherford</u>, 727 So. 2d at, 224 (Fla. 1999)(affirming summary denial of ineffective

assistance of counsel where additional evidence of appellant's harsh childhood and Vietnam experience, although more detailed was cumulative); <u>Provenzano</u>, 561 So.2d 541, 546 (Fla. 1990) ("The additional testimony which Provenzano now suggests should have been given would have been largely cumulative.") <u>LeCroy</u>, 727 So. 2d at 237 (affirming summary denial of ineffectiveness claim that trial counsel failed to introduce additional evidence of defendant's family background where defendant failed to establish prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>); <u>Roberts</u>, 568 So. 2d at 1259(same); <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S601, 603 (Fla. June 29, 2002(same).

Second, the evidence presented was simply not compelling as it was never tied into Pietri's actions during the murder. <u>See</u> <u>Asay v. State</u>, 769 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2000) (upholding trial court's rejection of expert opinion as speculative given that experts were unfamiliar with significant facts of the crime); <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 785 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 2001)(upholding trial court's rejection of mental health expert's opinion as defendant's own actions during the robbery/murder belie testimony of expert); <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381, 390-391 (Fla. 1994)(recognizing that credibility of expert testimony increases when supported by facts of case and diminishes when facts contradict same); <u>Foster v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 747, 755 (Fla. 1996)(same); <u>Wournous v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1010

(Fla. 1994)(upholding rejection of uncontroverted expert testimony when it cannot be reconciled with facts of crime).

Pierti has consistently maintained at trial and during these proceedings that this was a case of second degree murder. The additional opinions of the new doctors is no different than what was offered at trial. Indeed their findings were severely rebutted at the hearing. For instance, although all the experts say Pietri is "cognitively impaired' he scored well on those portions of the tests which are sensitive to such cognitive deficiencies, including organic brain damage. (PCR 5554-5556, 5591-5593). Furthermore, no testing was conducted by any of the doctors except for that done by Dr. Goldberg. All of the remaining doctors relied on the tests results obtained by Goldberg. Yet Goldberg's testing was very suspect. It was limited, incorrectly scored and did not include any malingering component. (PCR 6616-6617). Moreover, Pietri's own witness Dr. Lippman conceded that a malingering component in such testing is worthwhile yet Pietri's own counsel forbid its use. That restraint on Lipmann's evaluations speaks volumes about the accuracy of the results. Consequently, Birch's failure in presenting such questionable evidence does not establish the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>. <u>See Cherry v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2000) (upholding a finding that counsel's investigation was not deficient given that new findings of

organic brain damage were not based on physical testing and proposed mitigating evidence was controverted by evidence at trial); <u>Miller v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 2000)(upholding trial court's rejection of proposed mitigator of abusive childhood since there was no corroborative evidence for the allegation); <u>See also Asay</u>, 769 So. 2d at 771 (finding counsel's performance not deficient where new evidence of organic brain damage was simply not compelling).

Pietri failed to present any explanation or attempt to counter his own statements at trial or Dr. Kropp's admission that Pietri's his motivation for the shooting was not get caught with all that stolen merchandise with him. The objective facts demonstrate that Pietri waited until the unsuspecting officer was within two feet of him, he pulled pout his gun and filed one shot into his heart. If Pietri did not nothing to escape he would have been caught in a stolen truck, with stolen merchandise, after escaping from jail. The motivation to get away from the unsuspecting officer was overwhelming. The jury was well within their authority to reject Pietri's claim that this was impulsive and unintentional and therefore at best only second degree murder. Nothing presented at the evidentiary hearing could call those findings into question. The trial court correctly denied relief as Pietri has not established either deficient performance of prejudice under Strickland.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO COMPEL PUBLIC RECORDS

Appellant claims that he properly filed a request for additional public records following the conclusion the evidentiary hearing in this case. Following a motion to compel production of additional records, and the state's response, the trial court denied the request. (PCR 6906). On appeal, appellant claims that was error, and requests that this Court order production of the requested material. Appellant's argument is without merit.

As accurately portrayed by appellant, the victim's father received a letter from a local attorney suggesting that Mr. Chappel resolve this case and agree to a sentence of life without the possibility of parole. However, counsel failed to also point out the following relevant information.

The letter was sent to Mr. Chappell, a private citizen by a private attorney who has absolutely no connection to this case.

Once the state became aware of the letter's existence, the matter was brought to the attention of the court. At that time, there was absolutely no suggestion by the state that counsel for appellant had anything to do with sending the letter or that counsel should in any way be admonished or held accountable for sending this letter. (PCR 6770). The state was merely pointing

out its concern regarding the possible inappropriate behavior of <u>a private attorney</u>. The state expressed concern to the court that a member of the Florida bar, took it upon herself to write an unsolicited letter to the victim's family, expressing her opposition to the death penalty, and trying to persuade them into a certain course of action. (PCR 6768-6770).

Appellant's cites to no authority for the proposition that this letter somehow falls under the dictates of Florida's public record laws. The state asserts that it clearly does not. Mr. Chappell's personal property/mail simply does not fall under Florida Statutes, Chapter 119. <u>State v. Kokal</u>, 562 So. 2d 324, 326-327 (Fla. 1990)(defining public records as documents prepared by or at the direction of a public agency with the intent to perpetuate, formalize, or communicate knowledge). Appellant's argument is frivolous. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying appellant's motion to compel public records <u>See generally Glock v. Moore</u>, 776 So. 2d 243, 254 (Fla. 2001)(applying abuse of discretion standard in determining appropriateness of trial court's ruling).

<u>ISSUE IV</u>

THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO INCORPORATE BY REFERENCE THE STATE'S RESPONSE IN ITS ORDER WAS NOT IMPROPER

Appellant alleges that the trial court improperly abdicated to the state its responsibility for independently making findings of fact or conclusions of law and it failed to indicate what weight it was giving to conflicting testimony. This breach was committed when the court incorporated by reference the state's post hearing memorandum when it denied all relief. (PCR 6902). Allegedly appellate was prejudiced by the court's actions because the state's memo was facially deficient and erroneous in numerous areas. Appellant's argument is disingenuous and legally incorrect.

In support of his argument, counsel relies primarily on <u>Mason v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 776 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Patterson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 513 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1987), however neither case supports appellant's proposition. First, these proceedings do not involve a penalty phase, and therefore the requirement of factual findings by the judge regarding the existence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances pursuant to <u>Patterson</u> is inapplicable.

Second, <u>Mason</u> simply stands for the proposition that trial courts, as fact finders, should determine the weight to be given conflicting evidence. The state does not disagree with that

proposition. However, there is no indication in this record that the trial judge did not make its own independent findings of fact. Simply because the court decided to incorporate the findings by one party does not mean that the court did not make its own implicit findings.

Following the completion of the evidentiary hearing, appellant advised the judge that both parties **agreed** to provide written closing arguments. (PCR 6761). At that point, the trial court then requested that both sides submit proposed orders. Not only did appellate counsel **not** object, appellate counsel stated, "we'll be happy to oblige." (PCR 6762). The court then explained its reasoning for the request:

> Let me just tell you, I think it helps me. It does. And I read the memo. I read 'em like I read every letter I get from every inmate, I mean I just-I do. And then I try to digest what I think is contained therein. And then the order tells me how the memos ties into that, it ties into the record. I mean, because that's what the order should do. And so if you don't mind doing that. Also I think, you know, without being so presumptuous as to tell the appellate courts, that it is probably helpful to them too. So if you'll do that, I'll thank you."

> And I think that it should definitely be a part of the record. And I'd just like the memo in there when it goes up, for whatever reason, Okay? APPELLANT'S COUNSEL: I'll certainly oblige you. (PCR 6762-6763).

The record clearly establishes that the trial court, acted with the consent of both parties, and did nothing improper. Any

substantive argument appellate wished to make regarding the content of the state's pleadings could have been made on rehearing. (PCR 6910-6916). Additionally appellant currently has the opportunity to make any argument deemed necessary on appeal.

In summation, there is nothing in the case law or pursuant to statute which precludes a trial court order from incorporating by reference those pleadings. Furthermore, appellate counsel **requested** the opportunity to provide written argument, and appellate counsel **willingly provided a proposed order** for the court's consideration. To then suggest that the court's actions in accepting those documents was improper is disingenuous.

And finally, on this record it is clear that the trial court made its own determination regarding the merits of this case as the court explained how it viewed the relevance of the written memos and propose orders.¹² Appellant's request to vacate the lower court's determinations must be denied.

¹² The trial court's order incorporated by reference the state's memorandum and not any proposed order.

ISSUE V

PIETRI'S CLAIM THAT HE IS INSANE TO BE EXECUTED IS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT

Pietri claims that he, "is insane to be executed." See initial brief at 99. Immediately thereafter, Pietri concedes that the claim is "not ripe for consideration". Initial brief at 100, Pietri raises this inadequate claim in an effort to "preserve" the claim for later review. The state asserts that See LeCroy v. State, 727 So.2d summary denial was warranted. 236,239 (Fla. 1998) (upholding summary denial of motion were there is no factual support for conclusory claim) ; Engle v. State, 576 So. 2d 698, 700 (Fla. 1992) (ruling that motion is legally insufficient absent factual support for allegations). See also Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989) ("A defendant may not simply file a motion for post-conviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial ineffective and then expect to receive an counsel was evidentiary hearing."); Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1258 (Fla. 1990) ("The second and third claims are devoid of adequate factual allegations and therefore are insufficient on their face."); Cf. Woods v. State, 531 So. 2d 79, 80 (Fla. 1988) (finding procedurally barred claim that executing defendant with diminished capacity is cruel and unusual punishment).

Finally in the future, <u>if</u> Pietri is able to demonstrate good cause as to why he should be entitled to file an amendment or

successive motion, that issue would be addressed at the appropriate time. <u>See generally Florida R. Crim. Pro.</u> 3.850 (f); <u>See McConn v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 308 (2nd DCA 1998)(finding insufficient, defendant's request to amend postconviction motion based on allegation that it was "in the best interest of justice"). Summary denial is warranted.¹³

¹³ Nor does filing an insufficient pleading preserve the claim for future consideration in federal court. <u>Cf. Webster v.</u> <u>Moore</u>, 199 F.3d 1256 (11th Cir. 2000)(ruling that tolling mechanism of federal habeas provision is not applicable unless state pleadings comply with state court limitations and requirements).

ISSUE VI

PIETRI CLAIMS THAT HIS TRIAL WAS FRAUGHT WITH HARMFUL CUMULATIVE ERROR IS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT AND PROCEDURALLY BARRED, CONSEQUENTLY SUMMARY DENIAL IS WARRANTED

Pietri claims that due to the, "sheer number and types of errors involved in his trial," he is entitled to a new trial. Initial brief at 100. The state asserts that summary denial is warranted as this claim is procedurally barred as it was or could have been raised on direct appeal. See Zeigler v. State, 452 So.2d 537, 539 (Fla. 1984) ("In spite of Zeigler's novel, though not convincing, argument that all nineteen points should be viewed as a pattern which could not have been seen until after the trial, we hold that all but two of the points raised either were, or could have been, presented at trial or on direct appeal. Therefore, they are not cognizable under rule 3.850."), sentence vacated on other grounds, 524 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1988); <u>Chandler v. Dugger</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 1994)(same); <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 477, 480 n.1 (Fla. 1998)(affirming summary denial of claim that cumulative error resulted in unreliable trial); Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998)(finding all claims to be either without merit or procedurally barred and therefore there is no cumulative error effect to consider); Sireci v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S183, S185 (Fla. February 28, 2002).

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denial of appellant's motion for postconviction relief.